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The architectural character of the steel and New Hampshire gran-
ite City Hall is within the influence of the Beaux Arts style, yet it
is much more austere than most examples, especially in its lack of the
two most common features of the Beaux Arts classicism--coupled columns
and figure sculpture. It has been altered little since its occupation
on December 20, 1906.

The four story plus basement structure is 97' high from the side-
walk to the dome top. The elevations measure 242'8" along the composite
17 bay West elevation (Broad Street) with the first three, last three,
and center five bays broken forward 7'4" & 11' respectively. The North
elevation runs 140'4" along Green Street with the first and last three
bays broken forward 5'10" from the building wall (11 bays). The 18 bay
East elevation runs 242'8" with the first and last three bays broken
forward 7'4" and the center four bays broken forward 26' from the building
wall. The South elevation is identical to the North elevation.

Above the smooth granite base, which is capped by a cyma reverse
water table, there is a fascia and string course which acts as the
first floor window sill. The first floor is rusticated and surmounted
by a corona and cyma cornice, which at the center bay of the first floor
pavilions acts as a balcony for the second floor and is supported by
scrolled acanthus consoles. These second floor balconies which are an
interruption of the plinth course, occur at the center bay on the four
pavilions, except on the East facade, which is not heavily detailed.

The balconies have urn balusters and break forward about four feet from
what would otherwise be a false balustrade. The balconies also occur

on the West facade, outside the Mayor's office. Ionic capitaled
pilasters and engaged columns run from the base of the second floor to
the top of the third floor, except at the outside corners of the four
pavilions and central bays of the East and West facade where the rusti-
cation of the first floor continues in a less bold manner. The span-
drels separating the second floor windows from those of the third floor
are decorated with rectangular and circular raised panels with the rec-
tangular panels applied over scrollwork. The entablature breaks forward
over each engaged column. The plain frieze is punctuated by gouges over
the engaged columns, and there is a modillion and cyma recta cornice.
This composite entablature also supports an urn-balustered balcony

which partially conceals the fourth floor. The walls of the fourth
floor are smooth and topped by a simple frieze which is interrupted by
projecting keystones over each casement and also by pyrimidal ornaments
centered over the engaged columns. Surmounting this frieze is a cavetto
cornice which supports a parapet blocking course which is interrupted

by a Vitruvian scroll balustrade.
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Newark City Hall has long gone unnoticed by architectural his-
torians, yet it is one of New Jersey's best examples of the Beaux Arts

influence in American Public Architecture. When completed it repre-
sented the culmination of the political, social, and economic aspir-
ations of the Nation's third oldest major city as it entered its 240th

year.

ARCHITECTURE

The Beaux Arts is a "brash and energetic" style which had its
beginnings in the mid-1890's in American cities. Recalling the
earlier Victorian Second Empire, the Beaux Arts was even more lavish -
"the slightly over-done was the essence of its very real charm"¥*,

The mansard roof, rustication, columns and entablatures were inter-
laced with statuary and vigorous detailing which created a style which
has been seen as both frivolous and formal. These elements were
usually underscaled and played off against voids which balanced hand-
somely in a composition which was invariably symmetrical.

At the time of the construction of City Hall fairly obvious
formula was beginning to emerge for the design of public buildings.

On a massive basement, often rusticated, columns or pilasters rose

two or three stories to an entablature which had an attic. Within this
formula a wealth of exterior treatments could be used such as Colonial,
Roman, Beaux Arts, or any other style which fit the particular self-
image of the government responsible. 1In the case of Newark the choice
was the Beaux Arts styles.

Chronologically as well as stylistically, Newark City Hall stands
between the earlier Second Empire examples at Baltimore, Philadelphia,
Boston, and Providence and the later austere Classical municipal
buildings best exemplified by San Francisco's City Hall.

The architects, John H. and Wilson C. Ely, were selected on the
basis of a national contest which drew 57 entrants. They were assisted
by Mowbray and Uffinger, who were known for a number of banks in
Brooklyn and Hoboken, and by Prof. F. W. Chandler of the Boston School
of Technology. Among the most notable works of John H. and Wilson C.
Ely were the East Orange City Hall, and a number of buildings in
Newark: The American Insurance Co. (now Rutgers Tower), The New Jersey
Historical Society, the Mutual Life Insurance Building, and the Fire-

man's Insurance Building.

*The Architecture of Choice: Eclecticism in America, 1880-1930,
-Walter C. Kidney, George Braziller, Inc., 1974, p. 20.
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The central bays and corner pavilions have slate curb mansardic
roofs. The built-up roofing is masked by a pulvinated copper ridge
cap and flashing. The low dome which tops the building is double-
vaulted and set upon a low drum stage upon a square base, which raises
the dome above the height of the mansardic roofs. This square base
is rusticated in the same manner as the corners of the pabilions on
the second and third floors and is terminated by a composite entabla-
ture echoing that which appears between the third and fourth floors.

The drum stage is decorated with rope beading and a string course
interrupted by cartouches which are centered beneath the rusticated
panels in the copper dome above. These rusticated panels separate
alternating corner indented and curvalinear raised panels. Together
these copper panels comprise about two-thirds of the dome and are
separated from the upper third by anthemion antefixes. The remaining
third of the dome is composed of glass panels which provide light to
the rotunda below. However, the dome rises slightly as it nears its
apex with a crown-like shallow dome which is again adorned with ante-
fixes, glass panels, and crowned with a carved pineapple ornament.

At the basement level the side entrances are surrounded by a
banded oak-leaf label architrave. The casements throughout the building
are cast iron, center pivoted with side lights and transom. At the
first floor the casement muntins are modified into pendant consoles
just below the splayed stone lintels, which have beveled panel key-
stones. Most of the other exterior detailing occurs at the front
entrance, which is reached by a monumental set of sixteen steps, under
which is a rusticated porte cochere with a sculptured keystone. The
three paneled entrance portals and flanking casements are surrounded
by a bound bay-leaf architrave. The architraves are bisected by con-
cave scroll keystones. There are large acanthus scroll consoles
between each entrance bay, which rest above male griffin term stiles.
The term stiles are surmounted by scrolled oval escutcheons with fig-
ures, which support urns surrounded by foliate sprays filled with fruit.
Each entranceway also has a bronze rectangular marquee with shield fringe,
opaque glass panels, decorated frieze, and achinus and astragal cornice.
The two bronze lamp posts which flank the monumental front steps take
the form of an Ionic column, stop-fluted near the base, and supporting
a globe perched eagle with spread wings. These columns are set on wide,
low pedestals which are adorned with antefixes above a heavy cornice.
The cornice is carried around the cantoned corners on butresses, which
are set at a 45 degree angle to the faces of the pedestal and are
adorned with garlands. The dado on each elevation of the pedestal is
covered with a reticulated panel with a foliated spiral patera at the
center. The light fixtures themselves are torch-shaped and carried on
"S" prackets, which are attached to a heavy band girdling the column.
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The interior of City Hall retains all of its original monumental
splendor in the prescribed Beaux Arts tradition of formal classical
design. The composition or relationship between the exterior volumes
and interior spaces is handled well, in a dignified manner quite
suitable for the ceremonial focus of city government. The floor plan
is both axial and symmetrical and scores favorably using the Beaux Arts
criteria-"parti"-the way in which the plan was resolved and "marche"-
the quality of progression of spaces as one walked through them.

This quality of progression of spaces is bourne out upon entering
the marble paneled lobby, with its wooden coffered ceiling, mosaic
floor and bronze lamp standards, which gives way to a rectilinear cor-
ridor and the rotunda ahead after an ascent of five steps. The corri-
dor flows both North and South serving as access to the various city
offices, which are arranged along the exterior walls of the building.
Similar corridor and office arrangements occur on each floor.

To the east of the lobby, beyond the corridor, is the skylite
rotunda, which is marble up to the first story epicranitis, including
the stairs, columns, pilasters and wainscot of the basement stairs.

The closed string main stair is divided, with the first four risers

on a graduated convex curve. The whole ascends for 25 steps along the
rotunda wall converging on a central balustered landing, forming a ram-
part arch below and then rising eight more steps to the pedimented door
of the common council chambers. The steps are supported by fluted col-
umns with exaggerated entasis and capped by a dosseret to receive the
thrust of the arch. The arch panel is heavily decorated with bas-relief
"fasces" (in Roman culture the symbol of high authority) at either end
with a foliated cartouche in the center. Above either stair there is a
rusticated marble base crowned by a decorated plaster entablature which
in turn supports a marble plinth course and Corinthian capitaled pilas-
ters and columns. Between the pilasters are niches decorated with
corner-indented panels and decorated cartouches in the tympanum, above
this is a guilloche frieze and cornice, then another raised panel with
guttae which supports a secondary entablature over which there are
three encarpi.

The vast wells to the North and South of the rotunda are lighted
by two large rectangular stained-glass sky lights. Although the wells
were previously utilized as office space, the temporary partitioning
which was out of character has been removed. Above the first floor
the wells and rotunda are open. The balustrade which runs along the
corridors is a painted cast iron urn-baluster type at the first, second
and fourth floors, while at the third floor there is an elaborate cast

iron balustrade.
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The common council chambers and the Mayor's suite best reflect
the interior details and are described below. The chambers occupy
a large portion of the second and third floor East elevation of the
building. The entire room is arcaded with the rostrum rising five
steps from the chamber floor and set back into the center arcade.

This center arcade is barrel-backed and has a smooth ashlar surface
above which is a semi-dome decorated to replicate a star-filled sky.
The accompanying pilasters support the arch with guilloche frieze
and foliated center cartouche.

The other arcades in the chamber have decorated cartouches cen-
tered in the tympanum. Above this is a heavily decorated gilt plaster
cornice with alternating rosettes and acanthus modillions. The arcade
panels at the second story are frescoed with scenes important in the
city's long history. The frescoes were painted by Herman Schultz and
Sons, Newark. The panels which are not frescoed are corner—-indented.
The ceiling is coffered, with eichinus and astrigal at the indentations
and is lit by a circular stained glass sky light.

The Mayor's suite is paneled with African mahogany (corner-indented)
and carries through the chairrails and transomed doors found throughout
the office spaces in the building. There is also an ornate plaster cor-
nice found in the Mayor's office as well as more finely detailed woodwork.
The other interior offices are decorated with fascia cyma reversa chair-
rails and their transomed doors are surrounded with a cyma reversa fascia
architrave all in oak.

The dome rises above the center space of the three large, multi-
storyed, arcaded interior spaces (the rotunda and the two flanking light
wells). It is carried upon four pendentives which rise from four large
coffered arches springing from the level of the fourth floor. The
central portion of each of the pendentives is paneled with a raised
eichinus and astragal surround which is flanked by a guilloche band
running from the floor to the foliated roll molding which encircles
the drum beneath the skylight. Surmounting each of the arches is a
scrolled console with acanthus leaves over which is a large rosette
with raised surround. Above that is an elaborate oval cartouche sur-
rounded by banded swags and encarpi. Above the foliated roll moulding
which begins the drum is a plain frieze which is surmounted with alter-
nating ancons and elaborated rosettes above which is a corona from
which the stained-glass skylight springs.
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Alterations

The "marche" as one moves through the first floor has been enhanced
by the corridor which has been cut through from the first floor to the
Annex. The connecting bridge, which carries this corridor, and the
Annex were designed by Frank Grad in 1928.

The corridors were originally lit with hanging bowl lamps, many
of which have been replaced with florescent fixtures.

The bronze letters "City Hall" were placed on the Mayor's balcony
on February 14, 1951.
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The Newark municipal building is the only Beaux Arts public
building in New Jersey of national significance in terms of either its
style or its size. Unlike typical major city halls or State capitols,
the building achieves a monumentality through its scale rather than
through an ostentatious multi-staged dome (the rotunda is covered by
a low dome with designated relief work and with drum stages). As a
Beaux Arts building it is relatively controlled in its ornament,
however, the flamboyance of the Beaux Arts is there in its fanciful
Ionic capitals atop pilasters and engaged columns, in its abundant
carvings of margate, mascarons, scrolls, and husks, and in its fluted
Ionic columns which serve as lampposts as well as perches for bronze
eagles. The interior is even more emphatically Beaux Arts with its
Great Rotunda and Grand Staircase which call to mind Garier's Paris
Opera House which was so loved by the practitioners of the Beaux Arts
style.

Newark City Hall deserves its place among the finest city halls
in the nation, especially since it is one of the few extant which dis-
plays the influence of the famed Columbian Exposition (Chicago, 1892-93),
the Louisiana Purchase Exposition (St. Louis, 1898-1904), and the Pan-
American Exposition (Buffalo, 1901) all of which brought the Beaux
Arts style to maturity in America. The most direct influence upon
City Hall would probably be found in the vanished works at the
St. Louis fair, by E.L. Masqueray; however, in the case of Newark
City Hall we find that the Beaux Arts style has reached full maturity.

Political

Since its construction in 1906 the Newark City Hall has functioned
as the focal point for government in the city. It represents the pin-
nacle of development in Newark.



